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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Vincent Badkin (Vincent) asks this court to accept review of the Court of
Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

In re Marriage of Badkin, Court of Appeals No. 43900-0-I1, was filed on
Nov. 18, 2014. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-
22. Vincent’s motion for reconsideration and motion to publish were denied on
Feb. 3, 2015. A copy of the order amending the opinion and denying Vincent’s
motions is in the Appendix at pages A-23 through A-24.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Vincent presents these significant constitutional questions of law:

1. Whether the trial court violated Vincent’s right to procedural due process
by failing to provide Vincent with notice of the trial date that was reasonably
calculated to succeed.

2. Whether the trial court violated Vincent’s right to due process by
amending the findings of fact 88 days after entry of the decree, without justification
and in violation of CR 52(b) and CR 6(b), and in violation of its own prior order.

3. Whether the trial court’s award of $778.50 for an alleged IRS liability
violated Vincent’s right to due process because the amount of the award was not
based on the testimony of the witness, but was instead based only on the witness’s
attorney’s oral statement in court, and was not listed in the amended petition.

4. Whether the trial judge violated Vincent’s right to due process by
presiding over the default trial without notice, in violation of her own prior order

that had pre-assigned the case to a different judge, and without issuing a
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superseding order or providing any justification for the change.

5. Whether the trial judge’s refusal to recuse herself under the
circumstances violated the appearance of fairness doctrine and Vincent’s right to
due process.

6. Whether the trial court violated Vincent’s right to due process when it
entered pre-trial orders for child support and attorney’s fees, and a post-trial final
parenting plan and child support orders, without considering and articulating on the
factors required by chapters 26.09 and 26.19 RCW.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE'

1. Background Facts

Petitioner, Vincent Badkin (Vincent), is a missile assembly technician with
ahigh school education employed at a naval base in Silverdale, Washington. At the
beginning of this case, Respondent, Samantha Badkin (Samantha), was a paralegal
with a college degree working for her attorney in Port Orchard, Washington.
Vincent and Samantha were married in 1995, separated in 2008, and divorced in
2012. They have one daughter who is 18 years old as of this writing in 2015.

In 2008, Vincent received a job promotion which required him to relocate
to Florida. At that time, Samantha informed him that she did not want to move to
Florida with him and wanted to end their marriage. Vincent moved to Florida, and
Samantha remained in Washington with the child. (CP 76.) In 2010, Samantha and

Vincent filed a joint petition for dissolution which stated that Vincent would pay

' Due to space limitations and the extensive proceedings in this case, which has had three trials and
spanned more than four years, Vincent incorporates by reference the statement of the case found
in his Brief of Appellant (Second Amended) in the Court of Appeals at 7-36, which details many
more procedural irregularities in this case.



Samantha $125 each week and that both parties had already divided their other
financial interests. (CP 4.) Vincent had given up his interest in the family home,
(CP 141), and Samantha had given up any claims to Vincent’s retirement funds.

After Vincent moved back to Washington, the child began spending more
than 50 percent of the time with Vincent, yet Vincent continued to pay the $125 per
week to Samantha. After learning that Samantha was not paying her bills and not
meeting her share of the financial obligations for the child, Vincent stopped paying
the $125 per week because he was having the child more than 50 percent of the time
and was also paying virtually all of the child’s expenses, and he could not afford to
keep on paying the additional funds to Samantha. (CP 75-82.) Vincent also revoked
his signature as a joint petitioner and filed his answer to Samantha’s petition for
dissolution and affirmed that the parties had already resolved their property
division. (CP 17-18.)

Samantha went to court and obtained pre-trial child support orders even
though the child had been staying with Vincent more than 50 percent of the time
and Vincent was paying virtually all of the child’s expenses. Pre-trial orders were
entered against Vincent without articulating on any of the facts or the statutory
factors. Moreover, from no later than Dec. 1, 2011, the child, who was 15 years old
at the time, began living with Vincent exclusively and has done so to this day.
(Decl. of Vincent and the child in the Ct. of Appeals, 12-25-2013.)

The trial had been scheduled for Apr. 23,2012, On Feb. 24, 2012, only two
months prior to the scheduled trial date, the trial court granted Samantha’s motion
to amend her petition for dissolution. (CP 286.) In the amended petition, Samantha

added a request for 50 percent of Vincent’s retirement benefits without
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acknowledging Vincent’s interest in the family home. (CP 177.) On Feb. 29, 2012,
Judge Laurie, as the presiding judge of domestic relations cases, pre-assigned the
case to be tried by Judge Haberly. (CP 293.)

2. E-mail Notice and Default Trial

On Apr. 18, 2012, the court scheduler notified the parties via e-mail that the
trial would be delayed. (CP 371.) The scheduler advised that the case could be
placed on standby and she would call the parties “as soon as I foresee a time to
begin trial (hopefully within a month?) . . . . Id. The parties were instructed to
appear on Apr. 23, 2012, for “call only.” /d.

At that time, Judge Haberly stated she had a cancellation and the trial could
start that day, but it would be a while before the trial would continue after that day.
(RP at 2, call only hearing on 04-23-2012.) Vincent’s attorney stated he could not
start that day because of some health issues. /d. Judge Haberly placed the case on
standby. (/d. at 6.)

On May 1, 2012, after waiting eight days on standby, Vincent’s attorney
filed a notice of unavailability through the rest of May because he had to fly to the
East Coast on an urgent matter.” (CP 309.) The next day, on May 2, 2012,
Samantha’s attorney apparently sent an e-mail to both the court scheduler and
Vincent’s attorney questioning his notice of unavailability. (CP 345, time stamped
11:49 a.m.) Samantha’s attorney also claimed that he was “under the impression”

that the trial was likely to take place on May 7, 2012. Id.

? Vincent filed his notice of unavailability without any indication from the court scheduler when
the new trial date might be set, other than the scheduler’s e-mail on Apr. 18, 2012, in which she
said, *‘I can call as soon as I foresee a time to begin trial (hopefully within a month?)” (CP 371.)
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Later that same day, in response to Samantha’s attorney’s e-mail, the court
scheduler sent an e-mail to both parties stating that the trial was set for May 7,
2012. (CP 344, bottom of page, time stamped 3:06 p.m.) Vincent’s attorney did not
receive this e-mail. (See the trial court’s own findings — CP 389:6-11.) No letters,
phone calls, or other methods of communication were made before the trial date on
May 7, 2012. See Id. Consequently, Vincent did not appear at the trial and it was
held without Vincent being able to present his case.

On that day, for unknown reasons, Samantha and her attorney appeared
before Judge Laurie instead of Judge Haberly, even though the case was pre-
assigned to Judge Haberly by order of Judge Laurie, (CP 293), and the parties had
been waiting for Judge Haberly to be available for trial. When Vincent and his
attorney did not appear at 9 a.m., the court attempted to call them but received no
response. (RP at 5-7, default trial on 05-07-2012.) The court then immediately
proceeded with a default trial. /d.

The trial court conducted the default trial on May 7, 2012, and heard some
testimony from Samantha. (/d. at 7-18.) Samantha’s testimony included discussion
of an alleged 2007 IRS liability, but Samantha’s attorney made an oral statement to
the court as to the amount of the alleged IRS liability, instead of Samantha actually
testifying to the amount. (/d. at 12:24-13:10.)

After Samantha’s testimony, the court entered “default” findings of fact,
(CP 323-327), an order of child support, (CP 310-322), a final parenting plan, and
a decree of dissolution, (CP 328-332), which included an award of 50 percent of
Vincent’s retirement benefits to Samantha. From this date on, Judge Laurie presided

over all the proceedings in this case, even though her own order pre-assigning the
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case to Judge Haberly was never superseded. The court later entered qualified
domestic relations orders (QDROs) on June 15,2012, which awarded Samantha 50
percent of Vincent’s retirement benefits. (CP 356-365.)

3. Vincent’s Motions to Vacate

After receiving notice of the default trial from the East Coast, Vincent’s
attorney discovered the unread court scheduler’s e-mail in his computer’s saved
messages folder, instead of his inbox. (CP 389:6-11.) On May 16, 2012, Vincent
filed a motion for reconsideration, explaining that he did not receive the e-mail
notice of the trial date. (CP 333-335.) The court immediately denied the motion.
(CP 336-337.)

On May 25, 2012, Vincent filed his CR 60(b) motion for relief from the
orders. (CP 338-340.) Vincent cited CR 60(b)(1): “Mistakes, inadvertence, surprise,
excusable neglect or irregularity in obtaining a judgment or order.” (CP 338.) On
June 8, 2012, the court orally denied the motion; the order of denial was entered on
June 28, 2012. (CP 388-390.) The order stated that Vincent had failed to meet the
four-part test for a motion to vacate. /d. The court also found that Vincent’s
attorney did not receive the e-mail notice, stating in pertinent part:

[O]n May 2, 2012, the court scheduler emailed Mr. Chabuk stating
that the trial was set for five days later, Monday, May 7, 2012 but
for an inexplicable reason, Mr. Chabuk did not receive this email
directly but it somehow went into his saved file folder in his email,
where he found it after he received the news of his default. The
trial day, on May 7, 2012, court personnel attempted to contact Mr.
Chabuk and Mr. Badkin and there was no response.

CP 389:6-11 (emphasis added).

On June 22, 2012, Vincent filed his amended CR 60(b) motion for relief



from the orders, together with declarations in support and again cited CR 60(b)(1).
(CP 366-375; 339-340; 347-355; 217-240; 254-255.) This time, on June 27, 2012,
the court vacated the decree of dissolution, order of child support, and parenting
plan entered on May 7, 2012, because they were entered without notice of
presentation, citing CR 54(f)(2). (CP 384-386.) However, the court also ruled that
it had the discretion to sign the default findings of fact without notice of
presentation and refused to vacate them. (CP 385:24-30.) The court also refused to
vacate or reconsider the QDROs, stating that they were based on the “lawfully
entered” findings of fact. (CP 386.) The court concluded its order by stating:

TheFindings of Fact and Conclusions of Law entered May 7 remain
in force. However the Decree of Dissolution, Order for Support,
and Parenting Plan entered on May 7 are VACATED in part.
Attorney for [Samantha] must note a hearing for presentation of
these documents, and attorney for [ Vincent] is entitled to notice and
an opportunity to respond to [Samantha’s] proposed orders on the
basis of the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law only.
[Vincent] may not introduce new substantive evidence, but he may
argue as to the legal consequences that should rightfully follow the
Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. However, those portions
of the Decree of Dissolution, Order for Support, and Parenting Plan
that inherently encompass factual findings are not subject to
re-argument.

(CP 386) (emphasis in the original).

4. Amendment of Findings of Fact 88 Days after Entry

As ordered by the trial judge, Samantha proceeded to note for presentation
“the decree, parenting plan, and child support order,” (CP 400), but did not include
notice of any amended findings of fact. In opposition to re-entry of the orders,
Vincent argued that the proposed orders (and the QDROs) were not supported by

the default findings of fact, which the court had refused to vacate. (CP 411-415.)



Then, on Aug. 3, 2012, when the parties appeared for presentation of those
orders, the trial judge stated that she had allowed Samantha to submit amended
findings of fact,® despite the fact that Samantha never made a motion to amend the
findings, and despite the fact that the court had just recently ordered that the
findings would “remain in force” and were “not subject to re-argument.” (CP 386)
(emphasis in the original).

During this hearing, the trial judge denied Vincent’s request that she recuse
herself. Vincent’s request was made with a 28-page declaration of Vincent’s
attorney, which detailed the extensive history and personal conflicts between the
trial judge and himself, filed on Aug. 2, 2012. (CP 449-476.) The trial judge
acknowledged that Vincent had made it clear that he wanted her to recuse herself,
but denied the request, calling Vincent’s attorney’s declaration “absurd,” and stating
that it contained ‘“‘nothing of merit.” (PNRP at 2-3, entry of amended findings on
08-03-2012.)

The court then proceeded, over Vincent’s objection, to amend the findings
of fact and conclusions of law, (CP 490-494), almost three months after entry of the
first decree. (PNRP at 12—15, entry of amended findings on 08-03-2012.) Vincent
objected that the court had no jurisdiction or authority to amend the findings more
than 10 days after entry of the decree. (/d. at 5:17-19; 15:1-4.) Upon the court’s
inquiry, Samantha’s attorney responded, “I don’t actually know how to quite
respond tothat....” (/d. at 6:3-4.) The court overruled Vincent’s objection without

providing any justification, but noted that Vincent had “preserved his objections to

3 Partial Narrative RP (PNRP) at 2 and 12, entry of amended findings on 08-03-2012.
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the . . . entry of these amended findings of fact and conclusions of law.” (/d. at
15:19-22.)

On that date, the trial judge agreed that the parenting plan was not supported
by the default trial testimony and ordered a new trial for the parenting plan only, at
the end of which a final parenting plan and child support orders were entered
without articulating on the factors required by chapters 26.09 and 26.19 RCW.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals affirmed in an unpublished opinion.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. The trial court violated Vincent’s right to procedural due process
by failing to provide Vincent with notice of the trial date that was reasonably
calculated to succeed.

The state and federal constitutions provide that no person shall be deprived
of property without due process of law. CONST. art. [, § 3; U.S. CONST. amend.
XIV, § 1. “The essence of procedural due process is notice and the right to be heard.
The notice must be reasonably calculated to apprise a party of the pendency of
proceedings affecting him or his property, and must afford an opportunity to present
his objections before a competent tribunal.”**

To determine whether a particular form of notice is reasonable, “the notice

provided must be tested with reference to the existence of ‘feasible and

customary’ alternatives and supplements to the form of notice chosen.”

* Watson v. Washington Preferred Life Ins. Co., 81 Wn.2d 403, 408, 502 P.2d 1016 (1972) (citing
Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank & Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306,70 S.Ct. 652,94 L.Ed. 865 (1950)).

> Greene v. Lindsey, 456 U.S. 444, 454-55, 102 S.Ct. 1874, 72 L.Ed. 2d 249 (1982) (emphasis
added) (quoting Mullane at 315); See also Mullane at 318 (“Where the names and post office
addresses of those affected by a proceeding are at hand, the reasons disappear for resort to means
less likely than the mails to apprise them of its pendency.”).

9



[n the present case, aside from the court scheduler’s e-mail (sent in response
to Samantha’s attorney’s e-mail), no telephone calls, letters, or other methods of
communication were made to Vincent before the time of the trial. (CP 389:6-11.)
A telephone call is feasible and is one of the most customary methods of providing
notice of proceedings to an attorney. Telephone calls are one of the most effective
methods because both sides can immediately confirm that notice has been received.
No reason has been provided why the court could not have supplemented its e-mail
notice with a telephone call.

Due process also requires that the entity providing notice “consider unique
information known about an intended recipient in determining whether an

attempted means of providing notice is reasonably calculated to succeed.”

Here,
the court scheduler should have known that Vincent’s attorney had just filed a
notice of unavailability, especially considering the fact that Samantha’s attorney’s
e-mail, (CP 345), discussed the notice of unavailability, to which the court
scheduler responded (CP 344, bottom of page). Second, the court scheduler should
have known that Vincent’s attorney had recently had a medical emergency, which
is also stated in Samantha’s attorney’s e-mail. Third, the court scheduler had earlier
told the parties “I can call as soon as | foresee a time to begin trial,” but she never
called. (CP 371) (emphasis added).

For these reasons, the court scheduler should have made a heightened effort

to provide notice, at least with a telephone call. Yet, the only efforts the court

scheduler took to notify Vincent’s attorney was a single e-mail sent in response to

® Ryan v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs, 171 Wn. App. 454, 287 P.3d 629, 637 (2012) (emphasis
added) (citing Mullane at 315).
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Samantha’s attorney’s e-mail, sent only three court days before the trial date. (CP
344, bottom of page.) Under the circumstances, this was not reasonably calculated
to succeed in providing notice.

When Vincent filed his CR 60(b) motion for relief from the orders, he cited
in part the irregularity of the court scheduler’s e-mail notice. (CP 338-340.) The
order denying the motion stated that Vincent had failed to meet the four-part test for
a motion to vacate. (CP 388-390.) However, a claim of irregularity is not controlled
by this four-part test, which only applies to cases involving mistake, inadvertence,
surprise or excusable neglect.” Therefore, the court’s legal basis for denying the
motion was erroneous.

Next, when Vincent filed his amended CR 60(b) motion for relief from the
orders, (CP 366-375), he cited CR 60(b)(1), stated that he did not receive the e-mail
notice, and argued that it was not proper notice (CP 367-370). Additionally, RAP
2.5(a)(3) provides that a manifest error affecting a constitutional right may be raised
for the first time on appeal. It is consistent with RAP 2.5(a)(3) “for a party to raise
the issue of denial of procedural due process in a civil case at the appellate level for
the first time.”® To demonstrate that an error qualifies as a manifest constitutional
error, the party must identify a constitutional error and show how the alleged error
actually affected the party’s rights at trial.” “The focus of the actual prejudice

requirement is on whether the error is so obvious on the record that the error

" Mosbrucker v. Greenfield Implement, Inc., 54 Wn. App. 647, 652, 774 P.2d 1267 (1989).
8 Conner v. Universal Utilities, 105 Wn.2d 168, 171, 712 P.2d 849 (1986).

® Link v. Link, 165 Wn. App. 268, 279, 268 P.3d 963 (2011).

11



warrants appellate review.” Id. at 284.

Here, if the court had provided Vincent with notice of the trial date that was
reasonably calculated to succeed, Vincent would have been able to present his case
at the trial. In that situation, Vincent would have likely prevailed because Vincent
had been ready to present substantial evidence that the family home was being
purchased together. (CP 352.) As aresult of the default trial, Vincent lost 50 percent
of his retirement benefits, while getting nothing for his interest in the family home.
Vincent has suffered significant prejudice, and therefore the lack of notice is a
manifest error affecting his right to due process.

The Court of Appeals summarily concluded that the court scheduler’s e-mail
notice “was reasonably calculated to give Vincent notice of pending proceedings
because the judge’s scheduler had contacted Vincent’s attorney and corresponded
with him in that manner and at the same e-mail address before.” (Slip op. at 8.) This
reasoning, which relies on the previous e-mails between the court scheduler and
Vincent’s attorney, is ironic because it was the court scheduler’s previous e-mail
that stated, “I can call as soon as | foresee a time to begin trial,” but she never
called. (CP 371) (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals did not address this point

and also made several significant factual errors in its opinion.'® !

' The Court of Appeals incorrectly stated that “Vincent received notice of the May 7 trial date,”
(slip op. at 7), and that “Vincent admits that he received the scheduler’s e-mail.” (Slip op. at 8).
These statements are contradicted by the trial court’s own undisputed finding, which clearly states
that Vincent did not receive the e-mail notice until after the May 7, 2012, default trial. (CP
389:6-11.) Vincent pointed out this factual error to the Court of Appeals in his motion for
reconsideration, but the Court of Appeals denied the motion without commenting on this error.

"' The Court of Appeals also incorrectly stated that Samantha’s attorney sent an e-mail to Vincent’s
attorney “as a reminder of the trial date,” (slip op. at 12), and that Samantha’s attorney’s e-mail
“gave Vincent adequate notice of the May 7 trial.” (Slip op. at 8, as amended). This is contradicted

12



2. The trial court violated Vincent’s right to due process by amending
the findings of fact 88 days after entry of the decree, without justification and
in violation of CR 52(b) and CR 6(b), and in violation of its own prior order.

On Aug. 3, 2012, despite the fact that the court had just recently ordered that
the default findings of fact would “remain in force” and were “not subject to
re-argument,” (CP 386) (emphasis in the original), the court amended the findings
of fact, over Vincent’s objection, almost three months after entry of the first decree.
(PNRP at 12-15, entry of amended findings on 08-03-2012.)

CR 52(b) provides in pertinent part: “Upon motion of a party filed not later
than 10 days after entry of judgment the court may amend its findings or make
additional findings and may amend the judgment accordingly.” CR 6(b) specifically
prohibits the extension of time allowed for actions under certain rules, including
CR 52(b). The court had no authority to amend the findings after 10 days because
the time limits imposed by CR 52(b) and CR 6(b) are jurisdictional.'> When a
court acts without jurisdiction or exceeds its jurisdiction, it violates due

process."’

by the record which shows that the court scheduler’s e-mail that set the trial date, (CP 344, bottom
of page, time stamped 3:06 p.m.), was sent after, and in response to, Samantha’s attorney’s e-
mail (CP 345, 11:49 a.m.). Additionally, regarding Samantha’s attorney’s statement that “the most
probably [sic] time to re-appear and start trial” was May 7, 2012, there is no support in the record
for this statement. The last communication both parties had with the court was the call only hearing
on Apr. 23,2012, The transcript of that hearing shows that the parties were placed on standby, but
no reference was made to a possible new trial date. (RP at 6, call only on 04-23-2012.) Samantha’s
attorney has not provided any explanation why he was “under the impression” that the trial would
take place on May 7, 2012,

2 Cf. Schaefco, Inc. v. Columbia River Gorge Com’n, 121 Wn.2d 366, 367-368, 849 P.2d 1225
(1993) (““A trial court may not extend the time period for filing a motion for reconsideration.”)
(citing CR 6(b) and Moore v. Wentz, 11 Wn. App. 796, 799, 525 P.2d 290 (1974)).

13 See Pennoyer v. Neff, 95 U.S. 714, 733, 24 1.Ed. 565 (1878), overruled on other grounds by
Shaffer v. Heitner, 433 U.S. 186, 97 S.Ct. 2569, 53 L.Ed.2d 683 (1977) (stating in the context of
personal jurisdiction that proceedings affecting the “rights and obligations of parties over whom

13



Vincent raised this error to the Court of Appeals, but the Court of Appeals
declined to review it, incorrectly stating that Vincent raised it for the first time on
appeal. (Slip op. at 20.) Even if this was the case, this is also a manifest error
affecting Vincent’s right to due process and may be raised for the first time on
appeal. If the trial court had not amended the default findings of fact, the orders and
Judgments would have had to been vacated because they were not supported by the
default findings. Therefore, Samantha would not have been awarded 50 percent of
Vincent’s retirement benefits without Vincent receiving his share of the family
home. As a result of the amendment of the findings of fact, Vincent suffered
significant prejudice, and therefore the court’s amendment of the findings of fact
1s a manifest error affecting his right to due process.

3. The trial court’s award of $778.50 for an alleged IRS liability
violated Vincent’s right to due process because the amount of the award was
not based on the testimony of the witness, but was instead based only on the
witness’s attorney’s oral statement in court, and was not listed in the amended
petition for dissolution.

In the amended decree of dissolution, the trial court awarded Samantha
$778.50 against Vincent for an alleged IRS liability. (CP 495-499.) The supposed
basis for this was Samantha’s testimony during the default trial, despite the fact that
Vincent had already submitted into the record a letter from the IRS which stated
that he was not liable for the 2007 IRS liability incurred by Samantha. (CP 84.)
However, even Samantha’s testimony standing alone does not support this award
because Samantha’s attorney made an oral statement to the court during the default

trial as to the amount of the alleged IRS liability, instead of Samantha actually

that court has no jurisdiction do not constitute due process of law.”).
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testifying to the amount:'*
Groseclose [attorney]: What was the amount of [the 2007 IRS tax
liability]?
Samantha: 15 and change. I don’t have the actual number. It’s in
one of your exhibits. . . .
Groseclose [attorney]: Your Honor, I’ve interlineated in the decree

of dissolution 50 percent of that liability, which I had as 1557 or
thereabouts, which would be 778.50 to each party.

Samantha’s attorney’s statement is not evidence. Therefore, no evidence
was presented on the amount of the alleged liability. A deprivation of property
without sufficient evidence violates due process."”

Furthermore, the IRS liability, which was listed in Samantha’s original
petition for dissolution, (CP 5), was removed from her amended petition, (CP 176-
180), and therefore could not have been awarded at the default trial.'® When a court
acts without jurisdiction or exceeds its jurisdiction, it violates due process. See
Pennoyer, 95 U.S. at 733.

When Vincent filed his amended CR 60(b) motion for relief from the
orders, (CP 366-375), he cited CR 60(b)(1), (CP 367), and pointed out that the
award of the alleged IRS liability had no factual or legal basis (CP 368:24-25).
Additionally, this is a manifest error affecting Vincent’s right to due process and
may be raised for the first time on appeal. If the court had recognized that no

evidence was provided on the amount of the alleged liability, or that it was not

“RP at 12:24-13:10, default trial on 05-07-2012.

' Cf. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979) (a criminal
conviction without sufficient evidence violates due process).

' See Matter of Marriage of Leslie, 112 Wn.2d 612, 617,772 P.2d 1013 (1989) (“[A] court has
no jurisdiction to grant relief beyond that sought in the complaint.”).
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requested in the amended petition, then it would not have awarded the $778.50
against Vincent. As a result, this is a manifest error affecting his right to due
process. Vincent raised these errors to the Court of Appeals, and Samantha did not
dispute them, yet the Court of Appeals failed to address them.

4. The trial judge violated Vincent’s right to due process by presiding
over the default trial without notice, in violation of her own prior order that
had pre-assigned the case to a different judge, and without issuing a
superseding order or providing any justification for the change.

Samantha and her attorney appeared for the default trial before Judge Laurie
instead of Judge Haberly. No explanation was ever given why they appeared before
Judge Laurie while the case was pre-assigned to Judge Haberly, (CP 293), for
whom the parties had been waiting to be available. Samantha stated in her appellate
brief only that she “has no idea why Judge Anna Laurie presided over” the trial.
(Resp’t’s Br. in Ct. of Appeals at 16.)

When Vincent filed his amended CR 60(b) motion for relief from the
orders, (CP 366-375), he cited CR 60(b)(1) and pointed out the irregularity of Judge
Laurie presiding over the case instead of Judge Haberly, and also stated that if he
had been given notice that she was going to preside over the case, he would have
immediately filed an affidavit of prejudice against her as he had done in the past.
(CP 367-70.) The trial judge refused to vacate the findings of fact and QDROs,
despite the irregularities. (CP 386.) She did vacate the other orders, but only so they
could be re-entered with notice of presentation. /d.

It is undisputed that Vincent was never provided notice that Judge Laurie
would be presiding over the trial instead of Judge Haberly. No order was ever

entered superseding Judge Laurie’s own prior order which pre-assigned the case to

16



Judge Haberly. These procedural irregularities were never accounted for.
“Irregularities pursuant to CR 60(b)(1) occur when there is a failure to adhere to
some prescribed rule or mode of proceeding, such as when a procedural matter that
is necessary for the orderly conduct of trial is omitted or done at an unseasonable
time or in an improper manner.” Mosbrucker at 652.

Vincent’s attorney has filed affidavits of prejudice against Judge Laurie in
previous cases every time he has had to appear before her. By presiding over this
case without notice, Judge Laurie deprived Vincent of his opportunity to file an
affidavit of prejudice against her.'” Because Judge Laurie entered the default orders,
Vincent was forced to present his motion to vacate before her.

Due process requires notice and an opportunity to be heard before a
competent, impartial, and disinterested tribunal.'® It further requires that the tribunal
adhere “to those rules and principles which have been established in our systems
of jurisprudence . . . .” Pennoyer at 733.

By presiding over the case without notice, the trial judge deprived Vincent
of the opportunity to present his case to an impartial tribunal. Vincent raised this
error to the Court of Appeals, but the Court of Appeals declined to review it,
incorrectly stating that Vincent raised it for the first time on appeal. (Slip op. at 20.)
Even if this was the case, under the circumstances, this is a manifest error affecting

Vincent’s right to due process and may be raised for the first time on appeal. If the

"7 See RCW 4.12.050 (a party may disqualify a judge once as a matter of right by filing an affidavit
of prejudice, but only before the judge has made a discretionary ruling in the case).

'8 Watson, 81 Wn.2d at 408 (citing Mullane, 339 U.S. 306); Marshall v. Jerrico, Inc., 446 U.S.
238,242,100 S.Ct. 1610, 64 L.Ed.2d 182 (1980).
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trial judge had not violated her own order by presiding over the trial without notice,
then Vincent would have had the opportunity to present his case to an impartial
tribunal. As a result of this irregularity, Vincent suffered significant prejudice, and
therefore the trial judge’s actions constitute a manifest error affecting Vincent’s
right to due process.

Furthermore, RAP 2.5(a) is permissive in nature and the appellate court has
the discretion to review an issue raised for the first time on appeal.'® “Washington
courts have allowed issues to be considered for the first time on appeal when
fundamental justice so requires.”® Vincent asks that the Court exercise its
discretion to review all the issues in this case in order to ensure fundamental justice
prevails.

S. The trial judge’s refusal to recuse herself under the circumstances
violated the appearance of fairness doctrine and Vincent’s right to due
process.

“The Due Process Clause entitles a person to an impartial and disinterested
tribunal in both civil and criminal cases.” Marshall at 242. “There can be no
question but that the common law and the Federal and our state constitutions
guarantee to a defendant a trial before an impartial tribunal, be it judge or jury.”™'
Washington’s appearance of fairness doctrine dictates that judges must recuse

themselves when the facts suggest that they are actually or potentially biased.”

"% In re Marriage of Wendy M., 92 Wn. App. 430, 434, 962 P.2d 130 (1998).
¥ State v. Card, 48 Wn. App. 781, 784, 741 P.2d 65 (1987).

3 State ex rel. McFerran v. Justice Court of Evangeline Starr, 32 Wn.2d 544, 548,202 P.2d 927
(1949).

2 Tatham v. Rogers, 170 Wn. App. 76, 93, 283 P.3d 583 (2012).
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“Under this doctrine, evidence of a judge’s actual bias is not required; it is
enough to present evidence of a judge’s actual or potential bias.”* The code of
Judicial conduct “recognizes that where a trial judge’s decisions are tainted by even
a mere suspicion of partiality, the effect on the public’s confidence in our judicial
system can be debilitating.”** Accordingly, “[a] judicial proceeding satisfies the
appearance of fairness doctrine only if a reasonably prudent and disinterested
person would conclude that all parties obtained a fair, impartial, and neutral
hearing.””

Vincent requested that the trial judge recuse herself at least twice.”®
Vincent’s second request was made with the 28-page declaration of Vincent’s
attorney, which detailed the extensive history and personal conflicts between the
trial judge and himself. (CP 449-476.) After reviewing the declaration, the trial
judge stated: “[I]t’s clear to me you don’t want me to hear this case. You have made
that point. However, the declaration that you’ve submitted today contains nothing
new, nothing of merit, and I’'m not going to recuse myself.”*” The trial judge then
proceeded, over Vincent’s objection, to enter the amended findings of fact
previously discussed in this petition.

Vincent’s attorney’s declaration was submitted under penalty of perjury and

2 Jd. at 95 (citing State v. Post, 118 Wn.2d 596, 619 n. 9, 826 P.2d 172, 837 P.2d 599 (1992)).
# Id. (quoting Sherman v. State, 128 Wn.2d 164, 205, 905 P.2d 355 (1995)).
3 Id. at 96 (citing State v. Bilal, 77 Wn. App. 720, 722, 893 P.2d 674 (1995)).

% Vincent’s first request was in his Motion for Modification of Temporary Parenting Plan and
Child Support, filed on July 6, 2012. (CP 391.) The trial judge heard this motion on July 13,2012,
but never rendered a decision on it.

2 PNRP at 2:22-3:6, entry of amended findings on 08-03-2012 (emphasis added).
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contains mostly facts that have never been contested. This declaration established
that the trial judge was potentially biased. Under the appearance of fairness
doctrine, she was required to recuse herself. Tatham at 93. A reasonably prudent
and disinterested person would not conclude that Vincent obtained a fair, impartial,
and neutral hearing. Furthermore, coupled with the procedural irregularities in this
case, the trial judge’s refusal to recuse herself deprived Vincent of his due process
right to an impartial tribunal.**

6. The trial court violated Vincent’s right to due process when it
entered pre-trial orders for child support and attorney’s fees, and a post-trial
final parenting plan and child support orders, without considering and
articulating on the factors required by chapters 26.09 and 26.19 RCW.

The trial court violated Vincent’s procedural and substantive due process
rights and committed a manifest abuse of discretion when it entered child support
orders, parenting plans, and awards of attorney’s fees without articulating on the
factors required by chapters 26.09 and 26.19 RCW, and without reasonably
considering the substantive evidence.

F. CONCLUSION

The Court should vacate all the findings, orders, and judgments, and remand

for further proceedings before a visiting judge.

ubmitted on this Sth day of March, 2015.

<

habuk (WSBA No. 77543)
Attorney for Petitioner
11663 Ivy Lane NW, Silverdale, WA 98383

% Vincent raised this error to the Court of Appeals, but the Court of Appeals declined to review
it, incorrectly stating that Vincent did not seek the trial judge’s recusal, and calling Vincent’s
attorney’s 28-page declaration “vague.” (Slip op. at 20.)
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION II
In re the Marriage of No. 43900-0-11
SAMANTHA J. BADKIN,
Respondent,
and
VINCENT L. BADKIN, _ UNPUBLISHED OPINION
Appella.nt.
JOHANSON, C.J. — Vincent Badkin appeals from (1) a temporary parenting plan, an

accompanying temporary child support order, which includes back child suppbrt, a motion to
‘modify those orders, and final dissolution orders, (2) sanction orders, (3) an order denying his two
CR 60(b) motions to vacate, (4) the trial court’s failure to disqualify Samantha Badkin’s attorney,
(5) the trial court judge’s decision to preside over the trial, and (6) the triai court’s order to permit

Samantha! to amend the dissolution petition.

1 'We use the parties’ first names for clarity.
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We hold that (1) because temporary orders are not appealable, we do not reach the merits
‘of Vincent’s arguments regérding or relating to the temporary orders and the motion to modify
those orders, (2) because the‘comnﬁssioner’s original sanctions order did not become a final order
of the superior court, we do not reach the merits of the original sanctions order but we remand for
a ruling on the revision motion and vacate the additional sanctions orders, (3) because Vincent
received adequate notice of the May 7 trial, the court did not abuse its discretion when it denied
his CR 60(b) motions and entered findings of fact and conclusions of law pursuant to CR 52(c),
(4) because Vincent’s CR 60(b) motions do not apply to the May 7 dissolution decree and child
support order and the trial court properly denied his amended CR 60(b) motion to set aside the
June 15 qualified domestic relations orders (QDROs), the court did not abuse its discretion, (5)
because the Badkins’ child is now an adult, the specific residential provisions of the parenting plan
are moot, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it designated Sarnanfha as the primary
residential parent and ordered Vincent to pay child support because substantial evide'ﬂce in the
record supports these determinations, and (6) because the trial court properly permitted Samantha
to amend the dissolﬁtion petition, it did not manifestly abuse its discretion.

Finally, we decline to review the attorney conflict ‘of interest issue, Vincent’s objections to
the August 3 findings of fact and cc;nclusions of law, and the propriety of the trial court’s decision
to preside over the May 7 trial because they are raised for the first time on appeal. ‘Accordingiy,
we affirm the trial court’s final dissolution rulings, vacate its order for additional sanctions, and

remand for a ruling on Vincent’s revision motion.
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FACTS
I. PRETRIAL, TEMPORARY ORDERS, AND RELATED MOTIONS

In 2010, Vincent and Samantha filed a petition for dissolution of their marriage. Their only
child is now an adult. Although they initially filed a joint petition, eventually Vincent revoked his
joinder and conflict ensued.

As part of a temporary order enjoining the parties from selling or disposing of property, a
court commissioner ordered Vincent to pay $75 to Samantha “in temporary attorney fees” by May
31, 2011. In a separate sanctions order, the commissioner also ordered Vincent’s attorney to pay
$100 for failing to timely file Vincent’s financial disclosure. Vincent filed a motion for revision
of the commissioner’s sanctions, but the superior court did not enter an order ruling on the motion.
A different superior court judge later imposed an additional sanction of $100 against Vincent in
new attorney fees and $100 against his attorney for failing to pay the original amounts.

In May 2011, the trial court issued a temporary parenting plan»and in June, it issued an
accompanying child support order. The parenting plan provided that Samantha would be
designated as the primafy custodial parent, although the child would alternate her residence
weekly.

In January 2012, Vincent moved to end his child support obligation, modify his back child
support, ‘and for primary residential c_ustody of their child. On February 10, the court denied

Vincent’s motion to modify the parenting plan and child support. Vincent appeals from these

orders.
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In February, after Samantha filed an affidavit of prejudice, the trial was reassigned to Judge
Haberly instead of Judge Dalton. In February, two months before trial, over Vincent’s objection,
the couﬁ granted Samantha’s m'otionb to amend the dissolution petition.

On April 18, the original April 23 trial date was cancelled. The parﬁes were asked to
appear’ to set a new trial date. When they appeared, the court offered to start trial that day, but
Vincent’s attorney requested a continuance. The court granted the continuance and placed the case
on the court’s standb}; calendar. Kitsap County Local Civil Rules (KCLCR) provide that parties
whose case is on the standby calendar should receive a m_inimum of two hours’ notice for trial.
KCLCR 40(b)(4). |

On May 1, Vincent’s attorney filed a notice of unavailability for most of May. On May 2,
the judge’s scheduler notified the parties by e-mail of a new May 7 trial date. According to
Vincent’s attorney, this e-mail notification was automatically sorted into his e-mail account’s
“saved” folder and he did not realize that he had received it until after the trial. Samantha’s
attorney also e-mailed Vincent’s attorney on May 2 to clarify his intentions regarding the May 7
trial date and to see if Vincent’s attorney needed a continuance. Neither Vincent nor his attorney
appeared at trial.

II. TRIALS AND POSTTRIAL MOTIONS

Judge Laurie proceeded with the trial on May 7, and the court entered a dissolution decree,
order of child support, and ﬁndin‘gs of fact and conclusions of law.

On May 25, Vincent filed a CR 60(b) motion to set aside the three orders entered on May
7, based primarily on his attorney’s declaration. On June 15, the court entered two QDROs

assigning half of Vincent’s 401(k) and pensién plans to. Samantha. Vincent filed an amended CR
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60(b) motion to _inbclude the QDRO orders, and he amended his argument, claiming that under In
re Marriage of Daley, 77 Wn. App. 29, 888 P.2d 1194 (1994), énd Tacoma Recycling, Inc. v.
Capitol Material Handling Co., 34 Wn. App. 392, 661 P.2d 609 (1983), he was at least entitled to
notice of presentaﬁon if default orders were entered against him based on the May 7 trial. In the
amended CR 60(b) motion, Vincent also asked that a new trial be set in fr_ont of a different judge.
On June 27, the trial court granted his motion in part and vacated the dissolution decree and child
support order. The trial court did not vacate the ﬁndiﬁgs of fact and conclusions of law. The court
ordered Samantha to note a presentation hearing for her proposed dissolution decree and child
support order and offered Vincent the opportunity té respond to those proposed orders based on
the trial court’s Mayv7 findings of fact and conclusions of law. In response, Vincent objected to
these proposed final orders and argued that the orders are not supported by the May 7 findings of
fact.

On August 3, a final dissolution decree was entered addressing the marriage dissolution,
back child support, and property issues, along with amended findings of fact and conclusions of
law. The final dissolution decree awarded Samantha past due child support, half of the community
property portions of Vincent’s pension and 401 (k) plans, and it required Vincent to pay half of an
Internal Revenue Service (IRS) debt.

In September, there was a parenting plan and child support trial.2 In October, the court
entered its parenting plan and child support final orders as well as related findings of fact and

conclusions of law.

2 Their child’s testimony is not in the record on appeal, but the trial court did interview her.
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ANALYSIS
I. THE TEMPORARY ORDERS

Vincent argues that the trial court erred when it (1) entered a temporary parenting plan,
child support order, and a back child support order, and (2) denied Vincent’s motion to modify the
temporary parenting plan and child support orders. Because temporary orders are not final
judgments under RAP 2.2(a)(1), they are not appealable.

A party may appeal from “[t]he final judgment entered in any action or proceeding.” RAP
2.2(a)(1). A final judgment is “a judgment that ends the litigation, leaving nothing for the court to
do but execute the judgment.” Anderson & Middleton Lumber Co. v. Quihault Indian Nation, 79
Wn. Api). 221, 225, 901 P.2d 1060 (1995) (citing Catlin v. United States, 324 U.S. 229, 233, 65
S. Ct. 631, 89 L. Ed. 911 (1945)), aj‘j”d, 130 Wn.2d 862, 929 P.2d 379 (1996).

| Here, a temporary parenting plan was filed on May 27, 2011, a temporary child support
order was filed on June 3, 2011, aﬂd a temporary order for back child support was filed on August
26,2011. .Each of these temporary orders was subject to modification and revision throughout the
process of the Badkins® dissolution. The trial court entered final, appealable orders and
judgments—the dissolution decree, the final parenting plan, and the final order of child support—
after two separate trials.> Thus, we hold that these temporary orders are not final orders subject to
appellate review.

Likewise, the court’s order denying Vincent’s motion to modify the temporary orders is

not appealable because it did not end the litigation. Anderson & Middleton Lumber Co., 79 Wn.

3 Vincent himself filed at least four motions seeking to modify these orders prior to trial, including
a motion for residential credit, a motion for reconsideration, and a motion for revision.
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App. at 225, There was a trial on the parenting plan and on the issue of child support where
Vincent had the opportunity to present evidence and, on the basis of that trial, final orders were
presented and entered on October 12. The order denying the motion to modify is, fhus, also not
appealable.

II. THE MAY 7 TRIAL

A. NOTICE FOR TRIAL

Vincent argues that hé did not have proper notice of the May 7 trial date, that he was
deprived of the opportunity to present evidence, and that the May 7 findings of fact and conclusions
of law and dissolution decree should be vacated.* Because Vincent received notice of the May 7
trial date, his argument fails.

Due process requires that parties receive notice that is “reasonably calculated to apprise a
party of the pending proceedings affecting him and an opportunity to present his objections before
a competent tribunal.” State v. Ralph Williams’ N. W. Chrysler Plymouth, Inc., 87 Wn.2d 327, |
335, 553 P.2d 442 (1976). An attorney does not have the “authority to unilaterally bind . . . a
hearing officer . . . merely by filing a ‘notice of unavailability.” In re Disciplinary Proceeding
Against King, 168 Wn.2d 888, 906, 232 P.3d 1095 (2010). Under KCLCR, parties on the standby
calendar receive a minimum of two hours’ notice for trial. KCLCR 40(b)(4).

Here, the judge’s scheduler e-mailed the parties to inform them that the April 23 trial would
have to be moved. They were asked to appear on April 23 to set a new trial date. When they

appeared, the court placed the case on the standby calendar.

4 The final child support order was entered in October.
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On May 1, Vincent’s attorney filed a notice of unavailability and, on May 2, the court’s

scheduler sent e-mails to both parties setting the trial for May 7. On the same day, Samantha’s

attorney also e-mailed Vincent’s attorney to clarify his intentions regarding the May 7 trial. He -

specifically told Vincent’s attorney that a notice of unavailability is not the same as a continuance
and that he would need to file a continuance if he could not appear.

We hold that this e-mail notice was reasonably calculated to give Vincent notice of pending
proceedings because the judge’s scheduler had contacted Vincent’s attorney and corresponded
with him in that manner and at the same e-mail address before. Samanfha’s attorney had also
corresponded with him at that address and had given him additional notice of the possibility of a
May 7 hearing. Finally, KCLCR requires only that those on the standby calendar have two hours’
notice for trial. KCLCR 40(b)(4). Vincent admits that he received the scheduler’s e-mail, offers
no explanation for his failure to communicate with Samantha’s attorney, despite the court’s
intention to conduct the trial within a month of the April 23 hearing, and fails to argue that e-mail
notice was not reasonable under the circumstances. The court .scheduler’s e-mail, as well as
Samantha’s attorney’s e-mail, gave Vincent five days’ notice of the May 7 trial. Thus, we conclude
that Vincent had adequate notice.

B. POSTTRIAL AND THE CR 60(B) MOTIONS

Vincent argues that the trial court abused its discretion when it denied his CR 60(b) motion
for relief from the May 7 orders and findings of fact and the June 15 QDROs. We hold that the
CR 60(b) motion is inapplicable to the May 7 parenting plan, child support order, and dissolution
decree because the trial court vacated those orders on June 27 and that the trial court did not abuse

its discretion in denying Vincent’s CR 60(b) motion.
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We review a trial court’s decision on a CR 60(b) motion for an abuse of discretion. Mitchell
v. Wash. State Inst. of Pub. Policy, 153 Wn. App. 803, 821, 225 P.3d 280 (2009), review denied,
169 Wn.2d 1012 (2010). Inreviewing a CR 60(b) motion, we review only the decision of the trial
court and not the underlying judgment. Bjurstrom v. Ca;ﬁpbell, 27 Wn. App. 449, 450-51, 618
P.2d 533 (1980). Because a CR 60(b) motion is “addressed to the sound discretion” of the trial
court, we do not address arguments that were not made to the trial court. Jones v. City éf Seattle,
179 Wn.2d 322, 337-38, 314 P.3d 380 (2013). CR 52(c) permits a trial court to enter findings of
fact if a party has failed tb appear at a trial.’

1. THE MAY 7 FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

Vincent filed two CR 60(b) motions to set aside the May 7 findings of fact and conclusions
of law: one on May 25 and an amended motion on June 22. The first motion argues only
inadequate notice of trial. Because Vincent received adequate notice of the trial date as discussed
above, this argument fails.

We turn now to.his amended motion. Vincent’s amended CR 60(b) motion sought to set
aside the May 7 orders as well as the June 15 QDROs and relied on two cases from Division One
of this court, Daley and Tacoma Recycling, for the proposition that under CR 52(c), Vincent was

entitled to notice of presentation of the findings of fact and conclusions of law entered after the

5 CR 52(c) states, . .
Unless an emergency is shown to exist, or a party has failed to appear at a hearing
or trial, the court shall not sign findings of fact or conclusions of law until the
defeated party or parties have received 5 days’ notice of the time and place of the
submission, and have been served with copies of the proposed findings and
conclusions. Persons who have failed to appear at a hearing or trial after notice,
may, in the discretion of the trial court, be deemed to have waived their right to
notice of presentation or previous review of the proposed findings and conclusions.
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May 7 trial. We disagree with Vincent’s interpretation of these cases and CR 52(c), agree with
the Daley court’s interpretation of CR 52(c), and hold that as to the May 7 findings of fact and
conclusions of law, the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Vincent’s amended
CR 60(b) motion.

Vincent’s reliance on Tacoma Recycling is misplaced because, in that case, Division One
interpreted a now supérseded version of CR 52(c). In 1980, the rule read, “Unless an emergency
is shown to exist, the court shaH not sign findings of fact or conclusions of law until the defeated
party or parties have received 5 days’ notice.” CR 52(c) (1967). The version of CR 52(c) that
_applies to this case and that the Daley court interpreted requires five days’ notice unless there is
an emergency “or a party has failed to appear at a hearing or trial.” (Emphasis added.) The rule
was changed specifically to permit trial courts to enter findings of fact and conclusions of law after
a trial at which one party fails to appear. Thus, Vincent was not entitled to notice of the
presentation of the May 7 findings and conclusions because he failed to appear at trial.

Vincent also relies on Daley, but misconstrues its holding. In Daley, judgment was entered
under CR 55 as if the defeated party had never “entered an appearance.” 77 Wn. App. at 32. In
Daley, Division One of this court reversed a default 6rder entered under CR 55 because it held that
the rule does not apply where the husband accepted service, filed a pro se response, and attended
a status conference, although he did not appear at trial. 77 Wn. App. at 29, 31-32. The court’s
holding, therefore, was that the trial court erred because it applied an incorrect rule in that case,
CR 55. Daley, 77 Wn. App. at 31-32. The Daley court further held that “if [the wife] had

proceeded to trial and presented evidence on the record, then the trial court would have had the

10
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authority under CR 52 to enter findings, conclusions, and judgment without notice.” 77 Wn. App.
at 32.

Here, that is precisely what happened. Like in Daley, although Vincent was not presentvat
the May 7 trial, he did enter an appearance in the case, was represented by an attorney, and
participated actively. Further, Samantha presented evidence at trial and accordingly the findings
of fact and conclusions of law were properly entered under CR 52(c) because Vincent failed to
appear at trial, despite adequate notice.® This is the exact procedure that the Daley court approved.
77 Wn. App. at 31-32. Vincent is correct that Daley guides our decision but is mistaken as to its
holding. Because Vincent makes no other argument that the trial court abused its discretion when

it denied his amended -CR 60(b) motion as to the May 7 findings of fact and conclusions of law,
we affirm.
2. THE JUNE 15 QDROs

In his amended CR 60(b) motion, Vincent also argued that the QDROs were entered
improperly because the trial court did not give proper notice of presentation under CR 52(0). He
relied on Tacoma Recycling and Daley to support this position. As discussed above, CR 52(c)
requires notice of presentation of the findings of fact and conclusions of law. He is not entitled
under CR 52(c) to notice of presentation of QDROs. Moreover, Division One’s decisions in Daley

and Tacoma Recycling do not support Vincent’s argument. Therefore, he has not carried out his

6 CR 40(a)(5) states, “Either party, after the notice of trial, whether given by himself or the adverse
party, may bring the issue to trial, and in the absence of the adverse party, unless the court for good
cause otherwise directs, may proceed with his case.”
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burden to show that the trial court abused its discretion when it denied his motion to set aside the
June 15 QDROs.
3. THEMAY 7 DISSOLUTION DECREE, CHILD SUPPORT ORDER, AND PARENTINIG PLAN

On June 27, the trial court granted Vincent’s amended CR 60(b) motion in part and vacated
the May 7 dissolution decree, child support order, and parenting plan. The court ordered notice of
presentation and gave Vincent an opportunity to respond. Vincent took the opportunity and filed
objections. Because he prevailed on the amended CR 60(b) motion with respect to the dissolution
decree, child support order, and parenting plan, we decline to review those issues.

We conclude that because Vincent received e-mail notification of the trial date five days
in advance, at an address through which he had communicated with the court, and because
opposing counsel had also sent an e-mail to him as reminder of the trial date, Vincent had adequate
notice of trial. We also affirm the trial court’s decision on Vincent’s two CR 60(b) motions
because (1) CR 52(c¢) permits the tl;ial court to enter findings of fact and conclusions of law if
Vincent fails to appear at a trial or hearing, (2) Vincent had notice of presentation before the trial
court entered the June 15 QDROs, and (3) Vincent prevailed on the amended CR 60(b) motion'
- with respect to the dissolution decree, child support order, and parenting plan.

I1I. THE FINAL PARENTING PLAN AND ORDER OF CHILD SUPPORT
Vincent argues that insufficient evidence supports the trial court’s findings of fact entered

pursuant to the September 10 and 11 trial on the parenting plan. He also argues that the trial court
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abused its discretion in adopting the final parenting plan.” We affirm the trial court’s decision to
designate Samantha as the primary residential parent to the extent that determination affects child
support. Because their child is now an adult, however, any issue related to the residenﬁal
provisions of the final parenting plan is moot.

We review a frial court’s decision to adopt a parenting plan for an abuse of discretion. In
re Marriage of Katare, 175 Wn.2d 23, 35,283 P.3d 546 (2012), cert. denied, 133 S. Ct. 889 (2013).
We will uphold a trial court’s order of child support absent a manifest abuse of discretion. I re
Marriage of Mattson, 95 Wn. App. 592, 599, 976 P.2d 157 (1999). A trial court abuses its
discretion‘ when its decision is “manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or
untenable reasons.” Katare, 175 Wn.2d at 35. An appeal is moot when “it presents purely
academic issues and where it is not possible for the court to providé effective relief” Klickitat
County Citizens Against Imported Waste v. Klickitat County, 122 Wn.2d 619, 631, 860 P.2d 390,~
866 P.2d 1256 (1993). We review a trial court’s decision for substantial evidence to support the
findings of fact and determine whether the findings of fact support the conclusions of law.
Casterline v. Roberts, 168 Wn. App. 376, 381, 284 P.3d 743 (2012). Evidence is sufficient when
itis e‘nough to “persuade a rational fair-minded person that a finding is true.” Casterline, 168 Wn.
App. at 381 (citing Hegwine v. Longview Fibre Co., 132 Wn. App. 546; 555-56, 132 P.3d 789

(20006), aff 'd, 162 Wn.2d 340, 172 P.3d 688 (2007)). We consider unchallenged findings of fact

7 Vincent also appeals the trial court’s order denying his motion to stay the child support order
pending appeal. He did not include that motion or the related order in the record on appeal and,
thus, there is no final order or record relating to the final order for this court to review. RAP 9.2(b).
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to be verities on appeal. Casterline, 168. Wn. App. at 381 (citing Cowiche Canyon Conservancy
v. Bosley, 118 Wn.2d 801, 508, 828 P.2d 549 (1992)).

Samantha and Vincent’s child turned 18 in July 2014. Therefore, any issue regarding
residential provisions in the parenting plan are purely academic. Klickitat County Citizens Against
Imported Waste, 122 Wn.2d at 631. We, therefore, cénnot offer Vincent any relief from the
residential provisions of the final parenting plan. That issue is moot.

However, review is proper to the extent that Vincent seeks review of the parenting plan’s
implications on his child support obligations. Vincent argues that it was an abuse of discretion to
designate‘Samantha the primary residential parent because, despite the temporary parenting plan’s
provision that awaraed each parent alternating weeks of custody, theif child was actually living
with him and he was bearing all of the financial responsibility while paying child support to
Samantha.

In order to grant Vincent the relief from the child support orders that he seeks, we must
determine that the trial court either (1) abused its discretion when it designated Samantha the
primary residential parent, or (2) abused its discretion when it found thét Vincent was not in dire
financial straits and, thus, the ordered child support amount was improper. A trial limited to the
issues of the parenting plan and child support occurred on September 10 and 11.

The first issue is whether the trial court abused its discretion when it awarded primary
residential custody to Samantha, thereby guaranteeing Vincent’s larger support responsibility. The

trial court considered the relevant statutory language in RCW 26.09.184 and .187 and found that
| the most relevant factors to this case were (1) the emotional stability of the child, (2) providing for

the child’s changing needs, and (3) minimizing exposure to parental conflict. It is undisputed that
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the child would prefer to live with her father. The court found tha;t the child’s preference should
be considered and that she would prefer to live with her father but that she enjoyed spending time |
with her mother and also wanted to improve their relationship. The court determined that it was
in the child’s best interest to live with her mother because her father exposed her tb and involved
her excessively in the dissolution litigation and was focused too much on money and not enough
on how the conflict might affect their child. In court, Samantha stated that she was willing to let
Vincent have full custody in order to end the conflict. The court found that Samantha’s
selflessness, coupled with Vincent’s rage, indicated that Samantha’s home would likely create a
more emotionally stable situation for the child.

The court’s October 12 findings of fact on this issue are supported by the September trial
testimony. Finding of fact D, for example, states that the temporary parenting plan’s alternating
weeks of custody was not working for their child. This finding was supported by Samantha’s and
Vincent’s testimony. Finding of fact N stated that “Mr. Badkin’s behavior at trial, in some
instances, demonstrated venom and hatred and exposure of the child to that on a constant basis is
unhealthy.” Clerk’s Papers (CP) at 565. This-ﬁnding of fact is supported by the trial court’s
observations of Vincent’s venomous and unsettling demeanor at trial. The court also reasonably
coﬂcluded that this demeanor would lead to isolation of the child from Samantha. Finding of. facf
P states that “[t]here has not been a stable residential placement for the child in the fahter’s [sic]
home in the last 8 months.” CP at 566. This is supported by Vincent’s testimony that he has
moved, at times with their child, from a space in his attorney’s home to a more permanent
residence, but that there were ongoing renovations of an indeterminate length that required Vincent

to vacate the permanent residence and live in a unit above the garage. Finding of fact O states that
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based on Samantha’s testimony and pictures of her living space, the child’s space in Samantha’s
home was adequate. These findings of fact alone are sufficient to support a conclusion that it was
not an abuse of discretion to designate Samantha as the residential parent.

Vincent does not argue that the trial court’s reasons for designating Samantha as the
residential parent are unreasonable, untenable, or an abuse of its discretion. Accordingly, we hold
that sufficient evidence supports the trial court’s findings and the findings support the conclusion
that Samantha should be designated the primary residential parent. Thus, the trial court did not
abuse its discretion in reaching this conclusion.

The second issue is whether the trial court abused its discretion when it found that Vincent
was not in dire financial straits such that the ordered child support amount was improper. On
September 14, 2012, the trial court made comprehensive oral rulings rejecting Vincent’s request
for a modification of back child support and finding that he was not in dire financial straits and did
not qualify for any sort of modification.

The court discussed the following facts leading to its conclusion that Vincent was not in
dire financial straits:

He makes approximately $5300 a month in salary, $31.50 an hour plus whatever

increase he recently received. He’s paid no rent since January of 2012. He has

paid for utilities in his current location, roughly $400. He has voluntarily increased

his car payment expense . ... The third reason that request [to find that Vincent is

in dire financial straits] is denied is that [Vincent] had a simple remedy available to

him that he chose not to pursue, that was to simply follow the temporary parenting

plan that had been Court ordered of week on/week off.

Report of Proceedings (Sep. 14, 2012) at 3-4. This finding was based on Vincent’s testimony and

on his financial declarations. The most persuasive factor was the final one: if Vincent had made

sure that their child was with Samantha during her weeks and with him during his weeks, his
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financial outlays for the child’s benefit would have more accurately reflected what the temporary
parenting plan envisioned. The record, therefore, supports the trial court’s determination that
Vincent was not in dire financial straits and he does not offer. facts sufficient to demonstrate an
abuse of discretion. Therefore, we hold that the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it
found that he was not in dire financial straits.
IV. SANCTIONS AGAINST VINCENT AND HIS ATTORNEY

Vincent contends that a court commissioner improperly ordered him to pay $75 in attorney
fees to Samantha and improperly ordered his attorney to pay $100 for failing to timely file
Vincent’s financial disclosures. We decline to review the commissioner’s sanction orders while a
revision motion is still pending.

In general, appeal to the Court of Appeals must be of a ﬁnai decision of the superior court.
RAP 2.1, 2.2(a). “[I]n all matters decided by a commissioner the parties are entitled to revision
by ajudge of the superior court.” State v. Wicker, 105 Wn. App. 428, 431, 20 P.3d 1007 (2001)
(citing RCW 2.24.050). Unless a motion for revisionvis made within 10 days, the commissioner’s
orders become orders of the superior court and are subject to appellate review like the orders of a
superior court judge. RCW 2.24.050.

On May 6, 2011, the commissioner ordered sanctions against Vincent’s attorney in the
amount of $100. On the same day, the commissioner also ordered Vincent to pay $75 in attorney
fees to Samantha as part of a written order enjoining the parties from disposing of their property

during the dissolution. On May 12, Vincent filed a motion for revision of both orders. The
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superior court did not issue a written order on Vincent’s motion.® Because Vincent filed a timely
motion for revision and the superior court did not rule on that motion, the commissioner’s orders
for sanctions did not become orders of the superior court. RCW 2.24.050. Pursuant to RAP 2.1
and 2.2(a), we decline to review those orders.

Vincent next argues that because the trial court had not yet ruled on his motion for revision
of the commissioner’s sanction orders, the additional sanctions that it imposed for failure to pay
were also improper. We agree.

On Augusf 26, 2011, the trial court imposed additional sanctions on both Vincent and his
attorney in the amount of $100 each for failure to pay the sanctions that the commissioner ordered.
Because Vincent filed a timely motion for revision and no formal order was entered, that motion
is still pending. Accordingly, the later sanctions for failure to comply with the initial sanction
orders were not proper. We, therefore, vacate the court’s August 26 sanction ofders and remand
for a ruling on the-rnotion for fevision of the commissioner’s order.

V. ISSUES RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL

Vincent raises three arguments for the first time on appeal. Because Vincent raises each
of these issues for the first time on appeal, we decline to review them.

We generally decline to review an argument that is raised for the first time on appeal. RAP
2.5(a); Mellish v. Frog Mountain Pet Care, 172 Wn.2d 208, 221-22, 257 P.3d 641 (2011). We

may review an argument for the first time on appeal if the issue concerns a “manifest error affecting

8 According to Vincent, a hearing on the motion was held and Judge Spearman planned to deny
the motion in a written order. He apparently did not have the opportunity to sign the order before
he passed away and the transcript of that hearing is not in the record on appeal.
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a constitutional right.” RAP 2.5(a)(3); Mellish, 172 Wn.2d at 221. The appellant has the burden
“to provide an adequate record to review [his] issues” and if he does not, the trial court’s decision
stands. Fahndrich v. Williams, 147 Wn. App. 302, 307, 194 P.3d 1005 (2008); RAP 9.2(b).

A. CONFLICTS WITH SAMANTHA’S ATTORNEY

Vincent argues that the trial court erred when it permitted Samantha’s attorney to represent
her despite a conflict of interest. However, Vincent made no formal motion to the trial court to
disqualify Samantha’s counsel and makes no argumentl here that the potential conflict affects a
specific constitutional right. There are no facts, apart from vague references, iﬁ the record or in
Vincent’s briefing that provide this court with a basis to decide whether a conflict even existed
and no assertion that any prejudice resulted. Fahndrich, 147 Wn. App. at 307. Because Vincent
raises the attorney conflict issue for the first time on appeal, we decline to address it.

B. THE AUGUST 3 FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAw

Vincent argues that the August 3 findings of fact and conclusions of law were entered
contrary to CR 52(b) because they were entered more than 10 days after the May 7 findings of fact
and conclusions of law.® We decline to review an issue raised for the first time on appeal.

CR 52(b) states that a party may, within 10 days after entry of a judgment, move the court
to amend its findings of fact or make additional findings of fact “and may amend the judgment
accordingly.” CR 52(b). ‘However Vincent did not object to the Aﬁgust 3 findings of fact and
conclusions of law below. On August 31, he filed a CR 60(b) motion objecting only to the

language in the dissolution decree’s back child support order and without a request for amended

% It was these findings of fact and conclusions of law that resulted in an order to pay half of the
community IRS debt; Vincent owed $778.50.
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or additional findings of fact, as CR 52(b) requires. This motion, in fact, made no reference to CR
52 itself. Moreover, Vincent makes no argument that the August 3 findings of fact and conclusions
of law concern a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. We decline to review Vincent’s
CR 52(b) argument for the first time on appeal.
C. JUDGE SHUFFLING

Vincent argues that Judge Laurie acted improperly when she presided over the May 7 trial -
because the | case was preassigned to Judge Dalton and then improperly reassigned to Judge
Haberly. We decline to review this issue because Vincent raises it for the first time on appeal and
fails to provide an adequate record for our review.

In order to preserve this issue for appeal, Vincent must at least bring “the facts before the
trial judge and . . . seek [her] recusal.”  Henriksen v. Lyons, 33 Wn. App. 123, 128, 652 P.2d 18
(1 9825, review denied, 99 Wn.2d 1001 (1983). Although Vincent made several general complaints
below about the judges who had heard his case, he did not make a motion asking Judge Laurie,
who presided over the trial and entered the orders to which he objects, to recuse herself and did
not argue bias or harm from her decisions. In his June 22 amended CR 60(b) motion, he also failed
to present relevant facts about any alleged bias and presents no legal or factual argument here that
Judge Laurie’s decision to preside over the case was improper, prejudicial, or that it affected a
specific constitutional right nor does he provide any record, apart from Vincent’s attorney’s vague
affidavit, filed on August 2, that would permit this court to determine whether bias or conflict
existed. RAP 2.5(a)(3); Fahndrich, 147 Wn. App. at 307, RAP 9.2(b). We decline to review the

propriety of Judge Laurie’s decision to preside over this case for the first time on appeal.
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VI. MOTION TO AMEND DISSOLUTION PETITION

Vincent argues that the trial court abused its discretion when it permitted Samantha to file
an amended petition for dissolution without reason. Because Vincent fails to show a manifest
abuse of discretion, we affirm.

We review the trial court’s decision to permit amendment of pleadings under CR 15 for a
manifest abuse of discretion. Herron v. Tribune Publ’g Co., 108 Wn.2d 162, 165, 736 P.2d 249
(1987). A trial court commits a manifest abuse of its discretion when its decision is manifestly
unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons. In re Marriage of Muhammad,
153 Wn.2d 795, 803, 108 P.3d 779 (2005). CR 15(5) provides, in pertinent part, that a party may
amend its pleadings “by leave of court” and that leave to amend should be given “freely . . . when

| justice so requires.” The purpose of CR 15 is to “‘facilitaté a proper decision on the merits”’ and
to give notice to either party of the potential claims and defenses. Herron, 108 Wn.2d at 165
(quoting Caruso v. Local Union 690 of Int’l Bhd. of Teamsters, 100 Wn.2d 343, 349, 670 P.2d 240
(1983)).

Two months before trial, the court granted Samantha’s request to amend the dissolutibn
petition under CR 15. Vincent filed an amended answer prior to trial. Vincent does not cite to any
authority or support for his positio.n that the trial court’s decision was untenable or manifestly
unreasonable. The trial court properly granted leave to amend the petition in order to conform the
pleadings to the parties’ current positions and, in the interest of fairness, Vincent was permitted to
respond. Therefore, we hold that the trial court did not manifestly abuse its discretion when it

permitted Samantha to amend the dissolution petition.

21
A-21



No. 43900-0-1I

VII. ATTORNEY FEES

Vincent argues that he should receive “costs on appeal” as attorney fees. Br. of Appellant
at 55. We disagree. A party requesting attorney fees must “devote a section of its opening brief
to the request for the fees or expenses.” RAP 18.1(b). The requesting party must also have the
right to attorney fees based on “applicable law.” RAP 18.1(a).

Vincent devotes only one sentence of a summary paragraph to his request for attorney fees,
and does not argue that he has a right to attorney fees under applicable law. His request for attorney
fees on appeal is therefore denied.

We affirm the trial court’s final dissolution rulings, remand for a ruling on Vincent’s
revision motion, and vacate its order for additional sanctions.

A majority of the panel having determined that this opinion will not be printed in the

Washington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW 2.06.040,

88 \‘W) C (9' .
“JGAANSON, C.J. -

1t is so ordered.

We concur:

MELNICK, J. v
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DIVISION II
In re the Marriage of No. 43900-0-1I
SAMANTHA J. BADKIN,
Respondent, |
V.
VINCENT L. BADKIN, ORDER AMENDING OPINION AND.
DENYING MOTION TO RECONSIDER
AND MOTION TO PUBLISH
Appellant.

Appellant has filed a motion asking the court to recénsider and to publish its unpublished
opinion filed on November 18, 2014. Having considered the motion and supporting materials, the
court now orders as follows:

(1) The second to last sentence in the second to last paragraph on page 8 is amended to
read as follows:

The court scheduler’s e-mail, as well as Samantha’s attorney’s e-mail, gave
Vincent adequate notice of the May 7 trial.

(2) Section “B. The August 3 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law” on pages 19-20
is amended to read as follows:
B. The August 3 Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law
Vincent argues that the trial court entered the August 3 findings of fact and
conclusions of law contrary to CR 52(b) because they were entered more than 10

days after the May 7 findings of fact and conclusions of law.” But the record does
not show that Vincent brought this alleged error to the trial court’s attention below.
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He had the opportunity to do so when, on August 31, he filed a CR 60(b) motion
and objected only to the language in the dissolution decree’s back child support
order. This motion, in fact, made no reference to a CR 52 violation. Moreover,
Vincent makes no argument that the August 3 findings of fact and conclusions of
law concern a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. We decline to review
Vincent’s CR 52(b) argument for the first time on appeal.

(3) In all other respects the motion for reconsideration is denied.

(4) The motion to publish is also denied.

IT IS SO ORDERED.
DATED this <Sa ] day of gﬁ,&mﬁ, o ,2015.
HHANSON, C.J.
We concur:
brows, /.
/,JOR‘ 4N, 1.
. ?
MEINICK,).  J
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